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  VITA VETELLII


  [* Numbers in parentheses indicate the
     pagination of the English translation.]


  
    
      	[bookmark: P1][1] Vitelliorum originem alii aliam et quidem
         diversissimam tradunt, partim veterem et nobilem, partim vero novam et
         obscuram atque etiam sordidam; quod ego per adulatores
         obtrectatoresque imperatoris Vitellii evenisse opinarer, nisi
         aliquanto prius de familiae condicione variatum esset. Exstat Q. Elogi
         ad Quintum Vitellium Divi Augusti quaestorem libellus, quo continetur,
         Vitellios Fauno Aboriginum rege et Vitellia, quae multis locis pro
         numine coleretur, ortos toto Latio imperasse; horum residuam stirpem
         ex Sabinis transisse Romam atque inter patricios adlectam; indicia
         stirpis mansisse diu viam Vitelliam ab Ianiculo ad mare usque, item
         coloniam eiusdem nominis, quam gentili copia adversus Aequiculos
         tutandam olim depoposcissent; tempore deinde Samnitici belli praesidio
         in Apuliam misso quosdam ex Vitellis subsedisse Nuceriae, eorumque
         progeniem longo post intervallo repetisse urbem atque ordinem
         senatorium.

      	(427) I. Very different accounts are given of the origin of the
      Vitellian family. Some describe it as ancient and noble, others as recent
      and obscure, nay, extremely mean. I am inclined to think, that these
      several representations have been made by the flatterers and detractors
      of Vitellius, after he became emperor, unless the fortunes of the family
      varied before. There is extant a memoir addressed by Quintus Eulogius to
      Quintus Vitellius, quaestor to the Divine Augustus, in which it is said,
      that the Vitellii were descended from Faunus, king of the aborigines, and
      Vitellia [689], who was worshipped in many places as a
      goddess, and that they reigned formerly over the whole of Latium: that
      all who were left of the family removed out of the country of the Sabines
      to Rome, and were enrolled among the patricians: that some monuments of
      the family continued a long time; as the Vitellian Way, reaching from the
      Janiculum to the sea, and likewise a colony of that name, which, at a
      very remote period of time, they desired leave from the government to
      defend against the Aequicolae [690], with a force
      raised by their own family only: also that, in the time of the war with
      the Samnites, some of the Vitellii who went with the troops levied for
      the security of Apulia, settled at Nuceria [691], and
      their descendants, a long time afterwards, returned again to Rome, and
      were admitted (428) into the patrician order. On the other hand, the
      generality of writers say that the founder of the family was a freedman.
      Cassius Severus [692] and some others relate that he
      was likewise a cobbler, whose son having made a considerable fortune by
      agencies and dealings in confiscated property, begot, by a common
      strumpet, daughter of one Antiochus, a baker, a child, who afterwards
      became a Roman knight. Of these different accounts the reader is left to
      take his choice.
    


    
      	[bookmark: P2][2] Contra plures auctorem generis libertinum prodiderunt,
         Cassius Severus nec minus alii eundem et sutorem veteramentarium,
         cuius filius sectionibus et cognituris uberius compendium nanctus, ex
         muliere vulgari, Antiochi cuiusdam furnariam exercentis filia, equitem
         R. genuerit. Sed quod discrepat, sit in medio. Ceterum P. Vitellius
         domo Nuceria, sive ille stirpis antiquae sive pudendis parentibus
         atque avis, eques certe R. et rerum Augusti procurator, quattuor
         filios amplissimae dignitatis cognomines ac tantum praenominibus
         distinctos reliquit, Aulum Quintum Publium Lucium. Aulus in consulatu
         obiit, quem cum Domitio Neronis Caesaris patre inierat, praelautus
         alioqui famosusque cenarum magnificentia. Quintus caruit ordine, cum
         auctore Tiberio secerni minus idoneos senatores removerique
         placuisset. Publius, Germanici comes, Cn. Pisonem inimicum et
         interfectorem eius accusavit condemnavitque, ac post praeturae honorem
         inter Seiani conscios arreptus et in custodiam fratri datus scalpro
         librario venas sibi incidit, nec tam mortis paenitentia quam suorum
         obtestatione obligari curarique se passus in eadem custodia morbo
         periit. Lucius ex consulatu Syriae praepositus, Artabanum Parthorum
         regem summis artibus non modo ad conloquium suum, sed etiam ad
         veneranda legionum signa pellexit. Mox cum Claudio principe duos
         insuper ordinarios consulatus censuramque gessit. Curam quoque imperii
         sustinuit, absente eo expeditione Britannica; vir innocens et
         industrius, sed amore libertinae perinfamis, cuius etiam salivis melle
         commixtis, ne clam quidem aut raro sed cotidie ac palam, arterias et
         fauces pro remedio fovebat. Idem miri in adulando genii, prius C.
         Caesarem adorare ut deum instituit, cum reversus ex Syria non aliter
         adire ausus esset quam capite velato circumvertensque se, deinde
         procumbens. Claudium uxoribus libertisque addictum ne qua non arte
         demereretur, pro maximo numere a Messalina petit, ut sibi pedes
         praeberet excalciandos; detractumque socculum dextrum inter togam
         tunicasque gestavit assidue, nonnumquam osculabundus. Narcissi quoque
         et Pallantis imagines aureas inter Lares coluit. Huius et illa vox
         est: Saepe facias, cum Saeculares ludos edenti Claudio
         gratularetur.

      	II. It is certain, however, that Publius Vitellius, of Nuceria,
      whether of an ancient family, or of low extraction, was a Roman knight,
      and a procurator to Augustus. He left behind him four sons, all men of
      very high station, who had the same cognomen, but the different
      praenomina of Aulus, Quintus, Publius, and Lucius. Aulus died in the
      enjoyment of the consulship [693], which office he
      bore jointly with Domitius, the father of Nero Caesar. He was elegant to
      excess in his manner of living, and notorious for the vast expense of his
      entertainments. Quintus was deprived of his rank of senator, when, upon a
      motion made by Tiberius, a resolution passed to purge the senate of those
      who were in any respect not duly qualified for that honour. Publius, an
      intimate friend and companion of Germanicus, prosecuted his enemy and
      murderer, Cneius Piso, and procured sentence against him. After he had
      been made proctor, being arrested among the accomplices of Sejanus, and
      delivered into the hands of his brother to be confined in his house, he
      opened a vein with a penknife, intending to bleed himself to death. He
      suffered, however, the wound to be bound up and cured, not so much from
      repenting the resolution he had formed, as to comply with the importunity
      of his relations. He died afterwards a natural death during his
      confinement. Lucius, after his consulship [694], was
      made governor of Syria [695], and by his politic
      management not only brought Artabanus, king of the Parthians, to give him
      an interview, but to worship the standards of the Roman legions. He
      afterwards filled two ordinary consulships [696], and
      also the censorship [697] jointly with the emperor
      Claudius. Whilst that (429) prince was absent upon his expedition into
      Britain [698], the care of the empire was committed to
      him, being a man of great integrity and industry. But he lessened his
      character not a little, by his passionate fondness for an abandoned
      freedwoman, with whose spittle, mixed with honey, he used to anoint his
      throat and jaws, by way of remedy for some complaint, not privately nor
      seldom, but daily and publicly. Being extravagantly prone to flattery, it
      was he who gave rise to the worship of Caius Caesar as a god, when, upon
      his return from Syria, he would not presume to accost him any otherwise
      than with his head covered, turning himself round, and then prostrating
      himself upon the earth. And to leave no artifice untried to secure the
      favour of Claudius, who was entirely governed by his wives and freedmen,
      he requested as the greatest favour from Messalina, that she would be
      pleased to let him take off her shoes; which, when he had done, he took
      her right shoe, and wore it constantly betwixt his toga and his tunic,
      and from time to time covered it with kisses. He likewise worshipped
      golden images of Narcissus and Pallas among his household gods. It was
      he, too, who, when Claudius exhibited the secular games, in his
      compliments to him upon that occasion, used this expression, "May you
      often do the same."
    


    
      	[bookmark: P3][3] Decessit paralysi altero die quam correptus est,
         duobus filiis superstitibus, quos ex Sextilia probatissima nec
         ignobili femina editos consules vidit, et quidem eodem ambos totoque
         anno, cum maiori minor in sex menses successisset. Defunctum senatus
         publico funere honoravit, item statuam pro rostris cum hac
         inscriptione: PIETATIS IMMOBILIS ERGA PRINCIPEM. A. Vitellius L.
         filius imperator natus est VIII. Kal. Oct., vel ut quidam VII. Id.
         Sept., Druso Caesare Norbano Flacco cons. Genituram eius praedictam a
         mathematicis ita parentes exhorruerunt, ut pater magno opere semper
         contenderit, ne qua ei provincia vivo se committeretur, mater et
         missum ad legiones et appellatum imperatorem pro afflicto statim
         lamentata sit. Pueritiam primamque adulescentiam Capreis egit inter
         Tiberiana scorta, et ipse perpetuo Spintriae cognomine notatus
         existimatusque corporis gratia initium et causa incrementorum patri
         fuisse.

      	III. He died of palsy, the day after his seizure with it, leaving
      behind him two sons, whom he had by a most excellent and respectable
      wife, Sextilia. He had lived to see them both consuls, the same year and
      during the whole year also; the younger succeeding the elder for the last
      six months [699]. The senate honoured him after his
      decease with a funeral at the public expense, and with a statue in the
      Rostra, which had this inscription upon the base: "One who was steadfast
      in his loyalty to his prince." The emperor Aulus Vitellius, the son of
      this Lucius, was born upon the eighth of the calends of October [24th
      September], or, as some say, upon the seventh of the ides of September
      [7th September], in the consulship of Drusus Caesar and Norbanus Flaccus
      [700]. His parents were so (430) terrified with the
      predictions of astrologers upon the calculation of his nativity, that his
      father used his utmost endeavours to prevent his being sent governor into
      any of the provinces, whilst he was alive. His mother, upon his being
      sent to the legions [701], and also upon his being
      proclaimed emperor, immediately lamented him as utterly ruined. He spent
      his youth amongst the catamites of Tiberius at Capri, was himself
      constantly stigmatized with the name of Spintria [702], and was supposed to have been the occasion of his
      father's advancement, by consenting to gratify the emperor's unnatural
      lust.
    


    
      	[bookmark: P4][4] Sequenti quoque aetate omnibus probris contaminatus,
         praecipuum in aula locum tenuit, Gaio per aurigandi, Claudio per aleae
         studium familiaris, sed aliquanto Neroni acceptior, cum propter eadem
         haec, tum peculiari merito, quod praesidens certamini Neroneo
         cupientem inter citharoedos contendere nec quamvis flagitantibus
         cunctis promittere audentem ideoque egressum theatro revocaverat,
         quasi perseverantis populi legatione suspecta, exorandumque
         praebuerat.

      	IV. In the subsequent part of his life, being still most scandalously
      vicious, he rose to great favour at court; being upon a very intimate
      footing with Caius [Caligula], because of his fondness for chariot-
      driving, and with Claudius for his love of gaming. But he was in a still
      higher degree acceptable to Nero, as well on the same accounts, as for a
      particular service which he rendered him. When Nero presided in the games
      instituted by himself, though he was extremely desirous to perform
      amongst the harpers, yet his modesty would not permit him,
      notwithstanding the people entreated much for it. Upon his quitting the
      theatre, Vitellius fetched him back again, pretending to represent the
      determined wishes of the people, and so afforded him the opportunity of
      yielding to their in treaties.
    


    
      	[bookmark: P5][5] Trium itaque principium indulgentia non solum
         honoribus verum et sacerdotiis amplissimis auctus, proconsulatum
         Africae post haec curamque operum publicorum administravit et
         voluntate dispari et existimatione. In provincia singularem
         innocentiam praestitit biennio continuato, cum succedenti fratri
         legatus substitisset; at in urbano officio dona atque ornamenta
         templorum subripuisse et commutasse quaedam ferebatur, proque auro et
         argento stagnum et aurichalcum supposuisse.

      	V. By the favour of these three princes, he was not only advanced to
      the great offices of state, but to the highest dignities of the sacred
      order; after which he held the proconsulship of Africa, and had the
      superintendence of the public works, in which appointment his conduct,
      and, consequently, his reputation, were very different. For he governed
      the province with singular integrity during two years, in the latter of
      which he acted as deputy to his brother, who succeeded him. But in his
      office in the city, he was said to pillage the temples of their gifts and
      ornaments, and to have exchanged brass and tin for gold and silver.
      [703]
    


    
      	[bookmark: P6][6] Uxorem habuit Petroniam consularis
         viri filiam, et ex ea filium Petroniarum captum altero oculo. Hunc
         heredem a matre sub condicione institutum, si de potestate patris
         exisset, manu emisit brevique, ut creditum est, interemit, insimulatum
         insuper parricidii et quasi paratum ad scelus venenum ex conscientia
         hausisset. Duxit mox Galeriam Fundanam praetorio patre ac de hac
         quoque liberos utriusque sexus tulit, sed marem titubantia oris prope
         mutum et elinguem.

      	VI. He took to wife Petronia, the daughter of a man of consular rank,
      and had by her a son named Petronius, who was blind of an eye. The mother
      being willing to appoint this youth her heir, upon condition that he
      should be released from his father's authority, the latter discharged him
      accordingly; but shortly after, as was believed, murdered him, charging
      him with a design upon his life, and pretending that he had, from
      consciousness of his guilt, drank the poison he had prepared for his
      father. Soon afterwards, he married Galeria Fundana, the daughter of a
      man of pretorian rank, and had by her both sons and daughters. Among the
      former was one who had such a stammering in his speech, that he was
      little better than if he had been dumb.
    


    
      	[bookmark: P7][7] A Galba in inferiorem Germaniam contra opinionem
         missus est. Adiutum putant T. Vinii suffragio, tunc potentissimi et
         cui iam pridem per communem factionis Venetae conciliatus esset: nisi
         quod Galba prae se tulit, nullos minus metuendos quam qui de solo
         victu cogitante, ac posse provincialibus copiis profundam gulam eius
         expleri, ut cuivis evidens sit contemptu magis qua gratia electum.
         Satis constat exituro viaticum defuisse, tanta egestate rei
         familiaris, ut uxore et liberis, quos Romae relinquebat, meritorio
         cenaculo abditis, domum in reliquam partem anni ablocaret, utque ex
         aure matris detractum unionem pigneraverit ad itineris impensas.
         Creditorum quidem praestolantium ac detinentium turbam et in iis
         Sinuessanos Formianosque, quorum publica vectigalia interverterat, non
         nisi terrore calumniae amovit, cum libertino cuidam acerbius debitum
         reposcenti iniuriarum formulam, quasi calce ab eo percussus,
         intendisse nec aliter quam extorti quinquaginta sestertiis remisisset.
         Advenientem male animatus erga principem exercitus pronusque ad res
         novas libens ac supinis manibus excepit, velut dono deum oblatum, ter
         consulis filium, aetate integra, facili ac prodigo animo. Quam veterem
         de se persuasionem Vitellius recentibus etiam experimentis auxerat,
         tota via caligatorum quoque militum obvios exosculans, perque stabula
         ac deversoria mulionibus ac viatoribus praeter modum comis, ut mane
         singulos iamne iantassent sciscitaretur seque fecisse ructu quoque
         ostenderet.

      	VII. He was sent by Galba into Lower Germany [704], contrary to his expectation. It is supposed that he was
      assisted in procuring this appointment by the interest of Titus Junius, a
      man of great influence at that time; whose friendship he had long before
      gained by favouring the same set of charioteers with him in the
      Circensian games. But Galba openly declared that none were less to be
      feared than those who only cared for their bellies, and that even his
      enormous appetite must be satisfied with the plenty of that province; so
      that it is evident he was selected for that government more out of
      contempt than kindness. It is certain, that when he was to set out, he
      had not money for the expenses of his journey; he being at that time so
      much straitened in his circumstances, that he was obliged to put his wife
      and children, whom he left at Rome, into a poor lodging which he hired
      for them, in order that he might let his own house for the remainder of
      the year; and he pawned a pearl taken from his mother's ear-ring, to
      defray his expenses on the road. A crowd of creditors who were waiting to
      stop him, and amongst them the people of Sineussa and Formia, whose taxes
      he had converted to his own use, he eluded, by alarming them with the
      apprehension of false accusation. He had, however, sued a certain
      freedman, who was clamorous in demanding a debt of him, under pretence
      that he had kicked him; which action he would not withdraw, until he had
      wrung from the freedman fifty thousand sesterces. Upon his arrival in the
      province, the army, (432) which was disaffected to Galba, and ripe for
      insurrection, received him with open arms, as if he had been sent them
      from heaven. It was no small recommendation to their favour, that he was
      the son of a man who had been thrice consul, was in the prime of life,
      and of an easy, prodigal disposition. This opinion, which had been long
      entertained of him, Vitellius confirmed by some late practices; having
      kissed all the common soldiers whom he met with upon the road, and been
      excessively complaisant in the inns and stables to the muleteers and
      travellers; asking them in a morning, if they had got their breakfasts,
      and letting them see, by belching, that he had eaten his.
    


    
      	[bookmark: P8][8] Castra vero ingressus nihil cuiquam poscenti negavit
         atque etiam ultro ignominiosis notas, reis sordes, damnatis supplicia
         dempsit. Quare vixdum mense transacto, neque die neque temporis
         ratione habita, ac viam vespere, subito a militibus e cubiculo raptus,
         ita ut erat, in veste domestica, imperator est consalutatus
         circumlatusque per celeberrimos vicos, strictum Divi Iuli gladium
         tenens, detractum delubro Martis atque in prima gratulatione porrectum
         sibi a quodam; nec ante in praetorium rediit quam flagrante triclinio
         ex conceptu camini, cum quidem consternatis et quasi omine adverso
         anxiis omnibus, "Bono," inquit, "animo estote! nobis adluxit," nullo
         sermone alio apud milites usus. Consentiente deinde etiam superioris
         provinciae exercitu, qui prius a Galba ad senatum defecerat, cognomen
         Germanici delatum ab universis cupide recepit, Augusti distulit,
         Caesaris in perpetuum recusavit.

      	VIII. After he had reached the camp, he denied no man any thing he
      asked for, and pardoned all who lay under sentence for disgraceful
      conduct or disorderly habits. Before a month, therefore, had passed,
      without regard to the day or season, he was hurried by the soldiers out
      of his bed-chamber, although it was evening, and he in an undress, and
      unanimously saluted by the title of EMPEROR [705]. He
      was then carried round the most considerable towns in the neighbourhood,
      with the sword of the Divine Julius in his hand; which had been taken by
      some person out of the temple of Mars, and presented to him when he was
      first saluted. Nor did he return to the pretorium, until his dining-room
      was in flames from the chimney's taking fire. Upon this accident, all
      being in consternation, and considering it as an unlucky omen, he cried
      out, "Courage, boys! it shines brightly upon us." And this was all he
      said to the soldiers. The army of the Upper Province likewise, which had
      before declared against Galba for the senate, joining in the proceedings,
      he very eagerly accepted the cognomen of Germanicus, offered him by the
      unanimous consent of both armies, but deferred assuming that of Augustus,
      and refused for ever that of Caesar.
    


    
      	[bookmark: P9][9] Ac subinde caede Galbae adnuntiata, compositis
         Germanicis rebus, partitus est copias, quas adversus Othonem
         praemitteret, quasque ipse perduceret. Praemisso agmine laetum evenit
         auspicium, siquidem a parte dextra repente aquila advolavit,
         lustratisque signis ingressos viam sensim antecessit. At contra ipso
         movente, statuae equestres, cum plurifariam ei ponerentur, fractis
         repente cruribus pariter corruerunt, ac laurea, quam religiosissime
         circumdederat, in profluentem excidit; mox Viennae pro tribunali iura
         reddenti gallinaceus supra umerum ac deinde in capite astitit. Quibus
         ostentis par respondit exitus; nam confirmatum per legatos suo
         imperium per se retinere non potuit.

      	IX. Intelligence of Galba's death arriving soon after, when he had
      settled his affairs in Germany he divided his troops into two bodies,
      intending to send one of them before him against Otho, and to follow with
      the other himself. The army he sent forward had a lucky omen; for,
      suddenly, an eagle cams flying up to them on the right, and having
      hovered (433) round the standards, flew gently before them on their road.
      But, on the other hand, when he began his own march, all the equestrian
      statues, which were erected for him in several places, fell suddenly down
      with their legs broken; and the laurel crown, which he had put on as
      emblematical of auspicious fortune, fell off his head into a river. Soon
      afterwards, at Vienne [706], as he was upon the
      tribunal administering justice, a cock perched upon his shoulder, and
      afterwards upon his head. The issue corresponded to these omens; for he
      was not able to keep the empire which had been secured for him by his
      lieutenants.
    


    
      	[bookmark: P10][10] De Betriacensi victoria et Othonis exitu, cum adhuc
         in Gallia esset, audiit, nihilque cunctatus, quidquid praetorianarum
         cohortium fuit, ut pessimi exempli, uno exauctoravit edicto iussas
         tribunis tradere arma. Centum autem atque viginti, quorum libellos
         Othoni datos intervenerat exposcentium praemium ob editam in caede
         Galbae operam, conquiri et supplicio adfici imperavit, egregie prorsus
         atque magnifice et ut summi principis spem ostenderet, nisi cetera
         magis ex natura et priore vita sua quam ex imperii maiestate
         gessisset. Namque itinere inchoato, per medias civitates ritu
         triumphantium vectus est, perque flumina delicatissimis navigiis et
         variarum genere redimit, inter profusissimos obsoniorum apparatus,
         nulla familiae aut militis disciplina, rapinas ac petulantiam omnium
         in iocum vertens; qui non contenti epulo ubique publice praebito,
         quoscumque libuisset in libertatem asserebant, verbera et plagas,
         saepe vulnera, nonnumquam necem repraesentantes adversantibus. Vtque
         campos, in quibus pugnatum est, adiit, abhorrentis quosdam cadaverum
         tabem detestabili voce confirmare ausus est, optime olere occisum
         hostem et melius civem. Nec eo setius ad leniendam gravitatem odoris
         plurimum meri propalam hausit passimque divisit. Pari vanitate atque
         insolentia lapidem memoriae Othonis inscriptum intuens, dignum eo
         Mausoleo ait, pugionemque, quo is se occiderat, in Agrippinensem
         coloniam misit Marti dedicandum. In Appennini quidem iugis etiam
         pervigilium egit.

      	X. He heard of the victory at Bedriacum [707], and
      the death of Otho, whilst he was yet in Gaul, and without the least
      hesitation, by a single proclamation, disbanded all the pretorian
      cohorts, as having, by their repeated treasons, set a dangerous example
      to the rest of the army; commanding them to deliver up their arms to his
      tribunes. A hundred and twenty of them, under whose hands he had found
      petitions presented to Otho, for rewards of their service in the murder
      of Galba, he besides ordered to be sought out and punished. So far his
      conduct deserved approbation, and was such as to afford hope of his
      becoming an excellent prince, had he not managed his other affairs in a
      way more corresponding with his own disposition, and his former manner of
      life, than to the imperial dignity. For, having begun his march, he rode
      through every city in his route in a triumphal procession; and sailed
      down the rivers in ships, fitted out with the greatest elegance, and
      decorated with various kinds of crowns, amidst the most extravagant
      entertainments. Such was the want of discipline, and the licentiousness
      both in his family and army, that, not satisfied with the provision every
      where made for them at the public expense, they committed every kind of
      robbery and insult upon the inhabitants, setting slaves at liberty as
      they pleased; and if any dared to make resistance, they dealt blows and
      abuse, frequently wounds, and sometimes slaughter amongst them. When he
      reached the plains on which the battles (434) were fought [708], some of those around him being offended at the smell of
      the carcases which lay rotting upon the ground, he had the audacity to
      encourage them by a most detestable remark, "That a dead enemy smelt not
      amiss, especially if he were a fellow-citizen." To qualify, however, the
      offensiveness of the stench, he quaffed in public a goblet of wine, and
      with equal vanity and insolence distributed a large quantity of it among
      his troops. On his observing a stone with an inscription upon it to the
      memory of Otho, he said, "It was a mausoleum good enough for such a
      prince." He also sent the poniard, with which Otho killed himself, to the
      colony of Agrippina [709], to be dedicated to Mars.
      Upon the Appenine hills he celebrated a Bacchanalian feast.
    


    
      	[bookmark: P11][11] Urbem denique ad classicum introiit paludatus
         ferroque succinctum, inter signa atque vexilla, sagulatis comitibus,
         ac detectis commilitonum armis. Magis deinde omni divino humanoque
         iure neglecto, Alliensi die pontificatum maximum cepit, comitia in
         decem annos ordinavit seque perpetuum consulem. Et ne cui dubium
         foret, quod exemplar regendae rei p. eligeret, medio Mario campo
         adhibita publicorum sacerdotum frequentia inferias Neroni dedit ac
         sollemni convivio citharoedum placentem palam admonuit, ut aliquid et
         de dominico diceret, inchoantique Neroniana cantica primus exultans
         etiam plausit.

      	XI. At last he entered the City with trumpets sounding, in his
      general's cloak, and girded with his sword, amidst a display of standards
      and banners; his attendants being all in the military habit, and the arms
      of the soldiers unsheathed. Acting more and more in open violation of all
      laws, both divine and human, he assumed the office of Pontifex Maximus,
      upon the day of the defeat at the Allia [710]; ordered
      the magistrates to be elected for ten years of office; and made himself
      consul for life. To put it out of all doubt what model he intended to
      follow in his government of the empire, he made his offerings to the
      shade of Nero in the midst of the Campus Martius, and with a full
      assembly of the public priests attending him. And at a solemn
      entertainment, he desired a harper who pleased the company much, to sing
      something in praise of Domitius; and upon his beginning some songs of
      Nero's, he started up in presence of the whole assembly, and could not
      refrain from applauding him, by clapping his hands
    


    
      	[bookmark: P12][12] Talibus principiis, magnam imperii partem non nisi
         consilio et arbitrio vilissimi cuiusque histrionum et aurigarum
         administravit, et maxime Asiatici liberti. Hunc adulescentulum mutua
         libidinem constupratum, mox taedio profugum cum Puteolis poscam
         vendentem reprehendisset, coiecit in compedes statimque solvit et
         rursus in deliciis habuit; iterum deinde ob nimiam contumaciam et
         furacitatem gravatus circumforano lanistae vendidit dilatumque ad
         finem numeris repente subripuit, et provincia demum accepta manumisit,
         ac primo imperii die aureis donavit anulis super cenam, cum mane,
         rogantibus pro eo cunctis, detestatus esset severissime talem
         equestris ordinis maculam.

      	XII. After such a commencement of his career, he conducted (435) his
      affairs, during the greater part of his reign, entirely by the advice and
      direction of the vilest amongst the players and charioteers, and
      especially his freedman Asiaticus. This fellow had, when young, been
      engaged with him in a course of mutual and unnatural pollution, but,
      being at last quite tired of the occupation, ran away. His master, some
      time after, caught him at Puteoli, selling a liquor called Posca [711], and put him in chains, but soon released him, and
      retained him in his former capacity. Growing weary, however, of his rough
      and stubborn temper, he sold him to a strolling fencing- master; after
      which, when the fellow was to have been brought up to play his part at
      the conclusion of an entertainment of gladiators, he suddenly carried him
      off, and at length, upon his being advanced to the government of a
      province, gave him his freedom. The first day of his reign, he presented
      him with the gold rings at supper, though in the morning, when all about
      him requested that favour in his behalf, he expressed the utmost
      abhorrence of putting so great a stain upon the equestrian order.
    


    
      	[bookmark: P13][13] Sed vel praecipue luxuriae saevitiaque deditus,
         epulas trifariam semper, interdum quadrifariam dispertiebat, in
         ientacula et prandia et cenas comissationesque, facile omnibus
         sufficiens vomitandi consuetudine. Indicebat autem aliud alii eadem
         die, nec cuiquam minus singuli apparatus quadringenis milibus nummum
         constituerunt. Famosissima super cetera fuit cena data ei adventicia a
         fratre, in qua duo milia lectissimorum piscium, septem avium apposita
         traduntur. Hanc quoque exsuperavit ipse dedicatione patinae, quam ob
         immensam magnitudinem clipeum Minervae polioychoy dictitabat. In hac
         scarorum iocinera, phasianorum et pavorum cerebella, linguas
         phoenicopterum, murenarum lactes a Parthia usque fretoque Hispanico
         per navarchos ac triremes petitarum, commiscuit. Vt autem homo non
         profundae modo sed intempestivae quoque ac sordidae gulae, ne in
         sacrificio quidem umquam aut itinere ullo temperavit, quin inter
         altaria ibidem statim viscus et farra paene rapta e foco manderet,
         circaque viarum popinas fumantia obsonia, vel pridiana atque
         semesa.

      	XIII. He was chiefly addicted to the vices of luxury and cruelty. He
      always made three meals a day, sometimes four: breakfast, dinner, and
      supper, and a drunken revel after all. This load of victuals he could
      well enough bear, from a custom to which he had enured himself, of
      frequently vomiting. For these several meals he would make different
      appointments at the houses of his friends on the same day. None ever
      entertained him at less expense than four hundred thousand sesterces
      [712]. The most famous was a set entertainment given
      him by his brother, at which, it is said, there were served up no less
      than two thousand choice fishes, and seven thousand birds. Yet even this
      supper he himself outdid, at a feast which he gave upon the first use of
      a dish which had been made for him, and which, for its extraordinary
      size, he called "The Shield of Minerva." In this dish there were tossed
      up together the livers of char-fish, the brains of pheasants and
      peacocks, with the tongues of flamingos, and the entrails of lampreys,
      which had been brought in ships of war as far as (436) from the
      Carpathian Sea, and the Spanish Straits. He was not only a man of an
      insatiable appetite, but would gratify it likewise at unseasonable times,
      and with any garbage that came in his way; so that, at a sacrifice, he
      would snatch from the fire flesh and cakes, and eat them upon the spot.
      When he travelled, he did the same at the inns upon the road, whether the
      meat was fresh dressed and hot, or what had been left the day before, and
      was half-eaten.
    


    
      	[bookmark: P14][14] Pronus vero ad cuiuscumque et quacumque de causa
         necem atque supplicium, nobiles viros, condiscipulos et aequales suos,
         omnibus blanditiis tantum non ad societatem imperii adlicefactos vario
         genere fraudis occidit; etiam unum veneno manu sua porrecto in aquae
         frigidae potione, quam is adfectus febre poposcerat. Tum faeneratorum
         et stipulatorum publicanorumque, qui umquam se aut Romae debitum aut
         in via portorium flagitassent, vix ulli pepercit; ex quibus quendam in
         ipsa salutatione supplicio traditum statimque revocatum, cunctis
         clementiam laudantibus, coram interfici iussit, velle se dicens
         pascere oculos; alterius poenae duos filios adiecit deprecari pro
         patre conatos. Sed et equitem R. proclamantem, cum raperetur ad
         poenam: Heres meus es, exhibere testamenti tabulas coegit, utque legit
         coheredem sibi libertum eius ascriptum, iugulari cum liberto
         imperavit. Quosdam et de plebe ob id ipsum, quod Venetae factioni
         clare male dixerant, interemit, contemptu sui et nova spe id ausos
         opinatus. Nullis tamen infensior quam vernaculis et mathematicis, ut
         quisque deferretur, inauditum capite puniebat exacerbatus, quod post
         edictum suum, quo iubebat intra Kal. Oct. urbe Italiaque mathematici
         excederent, statim libellus propositus est, et Chaldaeos edicere,
         bonum factum, ne Vitellius Germanicus intra eundem Kalendarum diem
         usquam esset. Suspectus et in morte matris fuit, quasi aegrae praeberi
         cibum prohibuisset, vaticinante Chatta muliere, cui velut oraculo
         adquiescebat, ita demum firmiter ac diutissime imperaturum, si
         superstes parenti extitisset. Alii tradunt ipsam taedio praesentium et
         imminentium metu venenum a filio impetrasse, haud sane
         difficulter.

      	XIV. He delighted in the infliction of punishments, and even those
      which were capital, without any distinction of persons or occasions.
      Several noblemen, his school-fellows and companions, invited by him to
      court, he treated with such flattering caresses, as seemed to indicate an
      affection short only of admitting them to share the honours of the
      imperial dignity; yet he put them all to death by some base means or
      other. To one he gave poison with his own hand, in a cup of cold water
      which he called for in a fever. He scarcely spared one of all the
      usurers, notaries, and publicans, who had ever demanded a debt of him at
      Rome, or any toll or custom upon the road. One of these, while in the
      very act of saluting him, he ordered for execution, but immediately sent
      for him back; upon which all about him applauding his clemency, he
      commanded him to be slain in his own presence, saying, "I have a mind to
      feed my eyes." Two sons who interceded for their father, he ordered to be
      executed with him. A Roman knight, upon his being dragged away for
      execution, and crying out to him, "You are my heir," he desired to
      produce his will: and finding that he had made his freedman joint heir
      with him, he commanded that both he and the freedman should have their
      throats cut. He put to death some of the common people for cursing aloud
      the blue party in the Circensian games; supposing it to be done in
      contempt of himself, and the expectation of a revolution in the
      government. There were no persons he was more severe against than
      jugglers and astrologers; end as soon as any one of them was informed
      against, he put him to death without the formality of a trial. He was
      enraged against them, because, after his proclamation by which he
      commanded all astrologers to quit home, and Italy also, before the
      calends [the first] of October, a bill was immediately posted about the
      city, with the following words:--"TAKE NOTICE: [713]
      The Chaldaeans also decree that Vitellius Germanicus shall be no more, by
      the day of the said calends." He was even suspected of being accessary to
      his mother's death, by forbidding sustenance to be given her when she was
      unwell; a German witch [714], whom he held to be
      oracular, having told him, "That he would long reign in security if he
      survived his mother." But others say, that being quite weary of the state
      of affairs, and apprehensive of the future, she obtained without
      difficulty a dose of poison from her son.
    


    
      	[bookmark: P15][15] Octavo imperii mense desciverunt ab eo exercitus
         Moesiarum atque Pannoniae, item ex transmarinis Iudaicus et
         Syriaticus, ac pars in absentis, pars in praesentis Vespasiani verba
         iurarunt. Ad retinendum ergo ceterorum hominum studium ac favorem,
         nihil non publice privatimque nullo adhibito modo largitus est.
         Delectum quoque ea condicione in urbe egit, ut voluntatis non modo
         missionem post victoriam, sed etiam veteranorum iustaque militiae
         commoda polliceretur. Vrgenti deinde terra marique hosti hinc fratrem
         cum classe ac tironibus et gladiatorum manu opposuit, hinc
         Betriacenses copias et duces; atque ubique aut superatus aut proditus,
         salutem sibi et milites sestertium a Flavio Sabino Vespasiani fratre
         pepigit; statimque pro gradibus Palati apud frequentes milites, cedere
         se imperio quod invitus recepisset professus, cunctis reclamantibus
         rem distulit ac nocte interposita primo diluculo sordidatus descendit
         ad rostra multisque cum lacrimis eadem illa, verum e libello testatus
         est. Rursus interpellante milite ac populo et ne deficeret hortante
         omnesque operam suam certatim pollicente, animum resumpsit Sabinumque
         et reliquos Flavianos nihil iam metuentis vi subita in Capitolium
         compulit, succensoque templo Iovis Optimi Maximi oppressit, cum et
         proelium et incendium e Tiberiana prospiceret domo inter epulas. Non
         multo post paenitens facti et in alios culpam conferens, vocata
         contione iuravit coegitque iurare et ceteros, nihil sibi antiquius
         quiete publica fore. Tunc solutum a latere pugionem consuli primum,
         deinde illo recusante magistratibus ac mox senatoribus singulis
         porrigens, nullo recipiente, quasi in aede Concordiae positurus
         abscessit. Sed quibusdam adclamantibus ipsum esse Concordiam, rediit
         nec solum retinere se ferrum affirmavit, verum etiam Concordiae
         recipere cognomen; suasitque senatui, ut legatos cum virginibus
         Vestalibus mitterent pacem aut certe tempus ad consultandum
         petituros.

      	XV. In the eighth month of his reign, the troops both in Moesia and
      Pannonia revolted from him; as did likewise, of the armies beyond sea,
      those in Judaea and Syria, some of which swore allegiance to Vespasian as
      emperor in his own presence, and others in his absence. In order,
      therefore, to secure the favour and affection of the people, Vitellius
      lavished on all around whatever he had it in his power to bestow, both
      publicly and privately, in the most extravagant manner. He also levied
      soldiers in the city, and promised all who enlisted as volunteers, not
      only their discharge after the victory was gained, but all the rewards
      due to veterans who had served their full time in the wars. The enemy now
      pressing forward both by sea and land, on one hand he opposed against
      them his brother with a fleet, the new levies, and a body of gladiators,
      and in another quarter the troops and generals who were engaged at
      Bedriacum. But being beaten or betrayed in every direction, he agreed
      with Flavius Sabinus, Vespasian's brother, to abdicate, on condition of
      having his life spared, and a hundred millions of sesterces granted him;
      and he immediately, upon the palace-steps, publicly declared to a large
      body of soldiers there assembled, "that he resigned the government, which
      he had accepted reluctantly;" but they all remonstrating against it, he
      deferred the conclusion of the treaty. Next day, early in the morning, he
      came down to the Forum in a very mean habit, and with many tears repeated
      the (438) declaration from a writing which he held in his hand; but the
      soldiers and people again interposing, and encouraging him not to give
      way, but to rely on their zealous support, he recovered his courage, and
      forced Sabinus, with the rest of the Flavian party, who now thought
      themselves secure, to retreat into the Capitol, where he destroyed them
      all by setting fire to the temple of Jupiter, whilst he beheld the
      contest and the fire from Tiberius's house [715],
      where he was feasting. Not long after, repenting of what he had done, and
      throwing the blame of it upon others, he called a meeting, and swore
      "that nothing was dearer to him than the public peace;" which oath he
      also obliged the rest to take. Then drawing a dagger from his side, he
      presented it first to the consul, and, upon his refusing it, to the
      magistrates, and then to every one of the senators; but none of them
      being willing to accept it, he went away, as if he meant to lay it up in
      the temple of Concord; but some crying out to him, "You are Concord," he
      came back again, and said that he would not only keep his weapon, but for
      the future use the cognomen of Concord.
    


    
      	[bookmark: P16][16] Postridie responsa opperienti nuntiatum est per
         exploratorem hostes appropinquare. Continuo igitur abstrusus
         gestatoria sella, duobus solis comitibus, pistore et coco, Aventinum
         et paternam domum clam petit, ut inde in Campaniam fugeret; mox levi
         rumore et incerto, tamquam pax impetrata esset, referri se in Palatium
         passus est. Vbi cum deserta omnia repperisset, dilabentibus et qui
         simul erant, zona se aureorum plena circumdedit confugitque in
         cellulam ianitoris, religato pro foribus cane lectoque et culcita
         obiectis.

      	XVI. He advised the senate to send deputies, accompanied by the
      Vestal Virgins, to desire peace, or, at least, time for consultation. The
      day after, while he was waiting for an answer, he received intelligence
      by a scout, that the enemy was advancing. Immediately, therefore,
      throwing himself into a small litter, borne by hand, with only two
      attendants, a baker and a cook, he privately withdrew to his father's
      house, on the Aventine hill, intending to escape thence into Campania.
      But a groundless report being circulated, that the enemy was willing to
      come to terms, he suffered himself to be carried back to the palace.
      Finding, however, nobody there, and those who were with him stealing
      away, he girded round his waist a belt full of gold pieces, and then ran
      into the porter's lodge, tying the dog before the door, and piling up
      against it the bed and bedding.
    


    
      	[bookmark: P17][17] Irruperant iam agminis antecessores ac nemine obvio
         rimabantur, ut fit, singula. Ab is extractus e latebra, sciscitantes
         quis esset (nam ignorabatur) et ubi esset Vitellium sciret, mendacio
         elusit; deinde agnitus rogare non destitit, quasi quaedam de salute
         Vespasiani dicturus, ut custodiretur interim vel in carcere, donec
         religatis post terga manibus, iniecto cervicibus laqueo, veste
         discissa seminudus in forum tractus est inter magna rerum verborumque
         ludibria per totum viae Sacrae spatium, reducto coma capite, ceu noxii
         solent, atque etiam mento mucrone gladii subrecto, ut visendam
         praeberet faciem neve summitteret; quibusdam stercore et caeno
         incessentibus, aliis incendiarium et patinarium vociferantibus, parte
         vulgi etiam corporis vitia exprobrante; erat enim in eo enormis
         proceritas, facies rubida plerumque ex vinulentia, venter obesus,
         alterum ferum subdebile impulsu olim quadrigae, cum auriganti Gaio
         ministratore exhiberet. Tandem apud Gemonias minutissimis ictibus
         excarnificatus atque confectus et inde unco tractus in Tiberim.

      	XVII. By this time the forerunners of the enemy's army had broken
      into the palace, and meeting with nobody, searched, as was natural, every
      corner. Being dragged by them out of his cell, and asked "who he was?"
      (for they did not recognize him), "and if he knew where Vitellius was?"
      he deceived them by a falsehood. But at last being discovered, he begged
      hard to be detained in custody, even were it in a prison; pretending to
      have something to say which concerned Vespasian's security. Nevertheless,
      he was dragged half- naked into the Forum, with his hands tied behind
      him, a rope about his neck, and his clothes torn, amidst the most
      contemptuous abuse, both by word and deed, along the Via Sacra; his head
      being held back by the hair, in the manner of condemned criminals, and
      the point of a sword put under his chin, that he might hold up his face
      to public view; some of the mob, meanwhile, pelting him with dung and
      mud, whilst others called him "an incendiary and glutton." They also
      upbraided him with the defects of his person, for he was monstrously
      tall, and had a face usually very red with hard-drinking, a large belly,
      and one thigh weak, occasioned by a chariot running against him, as he
      was attending upon Caius [716], while he was driving.
      At length, upon the Scalae Gemoniae, he was tormented and put to death in
      lingering tortures, and then dragged by a hook into the Tiber.
    


    
      	[bookmark: P18][18] Periit cum fratre et filio anno vitae septimo
         quinquagesimo; nec fefellit coniectura eorum qui augurio, quod factum
         ei Viennae ostendimus, non aliud portendi praedixerant, quam venturum
         in alicuius Gallicani hominis potestatem; siquidem ab Antonio Primo
         adversarum partium duce oppressus est, cum Tolosae nato cognomen in
         pueritia Becco fuerat; id valet gallinacei rostrum.

      	XVIII. He perished with his brother and son [717],
      in the fifty-seventh year of his age [718], and
      verified the prediction of those who, from the omen which happened to him
      at Vienne, as before related [719], foretold that he
      would be made prisoner by some man of Gaul. For he was seized by
      Antoninus Primus, a general of the adverse party, who was born at
      Toulouse, and, when a boy, had the cognomen of Becco [720], which signifies a cock's beak.
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  [bookmark: com]COMMENTARY


  (440) After the extinction of the race of the Caesars, the
  possession of the imperial power became extremely precarious; and great
  influence in the army was the means which now invariably led to the throne.
  The soldiers having arrogated to themselves the right of nomination, they
  either unanimously elected one and the same person, or different parties
  supporting the interests of their respective favourites, there arose between
  them a contention, which was usually determined by an appeal to arms, and
  followed by the assassination of the unsuccessful competitor. Vitellius, by
  being a parasite of all the emperors from Tiberius to Nero inclusively, had
  risen to a high military rank, by which, with a spirit of enterprise, and
  large promises to the soldiery, it was not difficult to snatch the reins of
  government, while they were yet fluctuating in the hands of Otho. His
  ambition prompted to the attempt, and his boldness was crowned with success.
  In the service of the four preceding emperors, Vitellius had imbibed the
  principal vices of them all: but what chiefly distinguished him was extreme
  voraciousness, which, though he usually pampered it with enormous luxury,
  could yet be gratified by the vilest and most offensive garbage. The
  pusillanimity discovered by this emperor at his death, forms a striking
  contrast to the heroic behaviour of Otho.

  

   


  [bookmark: notes]FOOTNOTES


  
    	[bookmark: 689][689]


    	Faunus was supposed to be the third king who reigned over the original
    inhabitants of the central parts of Italy, Saturn being the first. Virgil
    makes his wife's name Marica--

    

         Hunc Fauna, et nympha genitum Laurente Marica Accipimus.
         --Aen. vii. 47.

    

    Her name may have been changed after her deification; but we have no other
    accounts than those preserved by Suetonius, of several of the traditions
    handed down from the fabulous ages respecting the Vitellian family.


    	[bookmark: 690][690]


    	The Aequicolae were probably a tribe inhabiting the heights in the
    neighbourhood of Rome. Virgil describes them, Aen. vii. 746.


    	[bookmark: 691][691]


    	Nuceria, now Nocera, is a town near Mantua; but Livy, in treating of
    the war with the Samnites, always speaks of Luceria, which Strabo calls a
    town in Apulia.


    	[bookmark: 692][692]


    	Cassius Severus is mentioned before, in AUGUSTUS, c. lvi.; CALIGULA, c.
    xvi., etc.


    	[bookmark: 693][693]


    	A.U.C. 785.


    	[bookmark: 694][694]


    	A.U.C. 787.


    	[bookmark: 695][695]


    	He is frequently commended by Josephus for his kindness to the Jews.
    See, particularly, Antiq. VI. xviii.


    	[bookmark: 696][696]


    	A.U.C. 796, 800.


    	[bookmark: 697][697]


    	A.U.C. 801.


    	[bookmark: 698][698]


    	A.U.C. 797. See CLAUDIUS, c. xvii.


    	[bookmark: 699][699]


    	A.U.C. 801.


    	[bookmark: 700][700]


    	A.U.C. 767; being the year after the death of the emperor Augustus;
    from whence it appears that Vitellius was seventeen years older than Otho,
    both being at an advanced age when they were raised to the imperial
    dignity.


    	[bookmark: 701][701]


    	He was sent to Germany by Galba.


    	[bookmark: 702][702]


    	See TIBERIUS, c. xliii.


    	[bookmark: 703][703]


    	Julius Caesar, also, was said to have exchanged brass for gold in the
    Capitol, Junius, c. liv. The tin which we here find in use at Rome, was
    probably brought from the Cassiterides, now the Scilly islands. whence it
    had been an article of commerce by the Phoenicians and Carthaginians from a
    very early period.


    	[bookmark: 704][704]


    	A.U.C. 821.


    	[bookmark: 705][705]


    	A.U.C. 822.


    	[bookmark: 706][706]


    	Vienne was a very ancient city of the province of Narbonne, famous in
    ecclesiastical history as the early seat of a bishopric in Gaul.


    	[bookmark: 707][707]


    	See OTHO, c. ix.


    	[bookmark: 708][708]


    	See OTHO, c. ix.


    	[bookmark: 709][709]


    	Agrippina, the wife of Nero and mother of Germanicus, founded a colony
    on the Rhine at the place of her birth. Tacit. Annal. b. xii. It became a
    flourishing city, and its origin may be traced in its modern name,
    Cologne.


    	[bookmark: 710][710]


    	A dies non fastus, an unlucky day in the Roman calendar, being the
    anniversary of their great defeat by the Gauls on the river Allia, which
    joins the Tiber about five miles from Rome. This disaster happened on the
    16th of the calends of August [17th July].


    	[bookmark: 711][711]


    	Posca was sour wine or vinegar mixed with water, which was used by the
    Roman soldiery as their common drink. It has been found beneficial in the
    cure of putrid diseases.


    	[bookmark: 712][712]


    	Upwards of 4000 pounds sterling. See note, p. 487.


    	[bookmark: 713][713]


    	In imitation of the form of the public edicts, which began with the
    words, BONUM FACTUM.


    	[bookmark: 714][714]


    	Catta muliere: The Catti were a German tribe who inhabited the present
    countries of Hesse or Baden. Tacitus, De Mor. Germ., informs us that the
    Germans placed great confidence in the prophetical inspirations which they
    attributed to their women.


    	[bookmark: 715][715]


    	Suetonius does not supply any account of the part added by Tiberius to
    the palace of the Caesars on the Palatine, although, as it will be
    recollected, he has mentioned or described the works of Augustus, Caligula,
    and Nero. The banquetting-room here mentioned would easily command a view
    of the Capitol, across the narrow intervening valley. Flavius Sabinus,
    Vespasian's brother, was prefect of the city.


    	[bookmark: 716][716]


    	Caligula.


    	[bookmark: 717][717]


    	Lucius and Germanicus, the brother and son of Vitellius, were slain
    near Terracina; the former was marching to his brother's relief.


    	[bookmark: 718][718]


    	A.U.C. 822.


    	[bookmark: 719][719]


    	c. ix.


    	[bookmark: 720][720]


    	Becco, from whence the French bec, and English beak; with, probably,
    the family names of Bec or Bek. This distinguished provincial, under his
    Latin name of Antoninus Primus, commanded the seventh legion in Gaul. His
    character is well drawn by Tacitus, in his usual terse style, Hist. XI. 86.
    2.
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